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Praise for Operation Tabarin


‘[An] important, solid and well-researched contribution to both the history of Antarctic exploration and the maritime strategic history of that distant region.’

– Professor Eric Grove in Navy News



‘This well-crafted narrative history makes fascinating reading, whilst providing an invaluable record of the start of the permanent British presence in Antarctica … a valuable and timely addition to the history of Antarctica.’

– Polar Record



‘Haddelsey brings the little known story of Operation Tabarin to life with his usual blend of narrative drive and thorough attention to detail. Based on extensive research, this volume is a valuable addition to our understanding of Britain’s involvement in the Antarctic during this critical period.’

– Heather Lane, Scott Polar Research Institute



‘A perspicuous and absorbing history of events from Operation Tabarin to the British Antarctic Survey.’

– Gordon Howkins MBE, Meteorologist, Operation Tabarin



‘A timely and very welcome account of an expedition that is vital to our understanding of British Antarctic exploration and the legacy of historic sites such as Port Lockroy.’ 

– Rachel Morgan, Director of the UK Antarctic Heritage Trust



‘Having been one of the crew of HMS William Scoresby during Operation Tabarin I have had great pleasure reading this book and remembering the exploits at the bases at Port Lockroy, Hope Bay and Deception Island. Mr Haddelsey deserves praise for bringing it all back so vividly.’ 

– George James, Wireless Officer, HMS William Scoresby, Operation Tabarin, 1944–46



‘A well-written book about a little-known but important expedition – very nostalgic.’ 

– Ian Graham, Lieutenant RNVR, HMS William Scoresby, Operation Tabarin, 1944–46
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‘What is the reason for sending an expedition of perfectly good fighting men to the South Pole?’



  Winston Churchill, 24 April 1944




For Ken Blaiklock

Explorer and friend



Author’s Note

Many of the diaries and letters quoted in this book were written in circumstances of extreme stress and in a hurry; inevitably, this resulted in an array of spelling mistakes and grammatical errors. For ease of reading, spelling has been corrected and punctuation adjusted where absolutely necessary. Any words inserted by the author for clarity of meaning are identified by the addition of square brackets. It should also be noted that, as a Canadian, Andrew Taylor used American spelling. For consistency and to avoid distraction, all spelling has been anglicised. 

All temperatures are given in degrees Fahrenheit and other measures in imperial, as these were the most commonly used during the expedition. 
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In February 1944, a party of nine British and Commonwealth soldiers, sailors and scientists landed on a tiny island in the middle of Port Lockroy, off the west coast of the Antarctic Peninsula. In response to incursions by competing powers, their top-secret mission was to establish British sovereignty in the region.

In the seven decades since their arrival, the programme of scientific research and geographical surveying begun by this small group of men under the leadership of Lieutenant Commander James Marr has expanded to become one of the most important and enduring of all government sponsored ventures in the Antarctic.

As patron of the United Kingdom Antarctic Heritage Trust, the body responsible for the conservation of this and many other important historic sites, I had the pleasure of visiting Port Lockroy in January 2007, following in the footsteps of my father, who visited as part of his world tour in January 1957.

With 2014 marking the seventieth anniversary of the expedition’s arrival in Antarctica, I am delighted to see for the first time the full story of ‘Operation Tabarin’, from its inception in the War Cabinet of early 1943 to its evolution into its post-war successors. It is a story of hardship, tension and danger – but also of determination and ultimate victory.
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Prologue

At first glance, nearly four and a half years of war seem to have left only the slightest impression on the Falkland Islands. The low treeless hills, blotched grey and black with boulders and sprouting coarse yellowish grass, continue to support thousands of hardy Corriedale sheep, as they have for the last 100 years. The houses of Stanley, clad in match boarding and roofed with brightly painted sheets of corrugated iron, stand securely rooted around the kelp-strewn waters of the harbour, and Christ Church Cathedral, the most southerly Anglican cathedral in the world, still dominates the town. The ribbons of smoke rising from the chimneys are heavy with the musty aroma of locally dug peat, and the whole scene exudes an atmosphere of domestic calm. 

On a typical day, a closer inspection will reveal just a few tell-tale signs of the war. Since 1942, the peacetime population of 2,400 souls has been massively augmented by some 1,500 men of the 11th Battalion of the West Yorkshire Regiment, supported by detachments of gunners, sappers and support services. Khaki is therefore much more prevalent than it once was. Amidst the rocks and scrub, gun pits and embankments have been constructed and the more observant might spot weapon embrasures in some of the buildings. The cemetery also contains ten military graves from the war years: most belong to members of the Falkland Islands Volunteer Force but four, dating from December 1939 and January 1940, are different. These are the last resting places of men mortally wounded in action against the Graf Spee. In Sparrow Cove, too, it is possible to see the legacy of the Battle of the River Plate: there are gaping holes in the rusted ironwork of Brunel’s SS Great Britain, where plates were salvaged to repair HMS Exeter.

However, Saturday 29 January 1944 is not a typical day and the signs of war are more obvious than usual – albeit war of a rather novel form. The grazing sheep look down from their sparse pastures on a scene of unusually intense, even frenetic, activity. Two ships lie tied up side by side in Port William, Stanley’s outer harbour, and dockhands and sailors in their sea-going slops swarm over them. One, the William Scoresby, is tiny: at just 134ft in length and with a displacement of 370 tons, she is hardly larger than an ordinary trawler – but she has a look of power and strength disproportionate to her size and her bows are reinforced for ice work. Launched in 1925, for most of her career the Scoresby, as she is commonly known, has been one of His Majesty’s Royal Research Ships, engaged in chasing and marking whales as part of the Discovery Investigations into the lifecycle of the great leviathans of the Southern Ocean. In size and shape she closely resembles the swift, steam-powered whale catchers and she is well known both to the Falkland Islanders and to the whalers hunting the Humpback, Fin and Blue whales that teem in the surrounding waters. But now her forward deck carries an antique looking 12-pounder, not the usual 12-bore marker gun, and she is a commissioned, if distinctly scruffy, warship. The second, larger, ship is the Fitzroy. Built in 1931 for the Falkland Islands Company, she is 165ft long, with a net register of 853 tons. She is equally familiar to the islanders, having been their most important link with the outside world for the last decade and more. Carrying the bales of wool which form the islands’ only export commodity to the ‘coast’, as the South American ports are known locally, she returns with mail, supplies and occasional visitors. Designed to ride the world’s stormiest seas, she too is ruggedly built and a good sea boat, though green-gilled passengers report a tendency to roll sickeningly in stormy seas.

The activity in the harbour has been ceaseless for the last two and a half days, ever since the 14,000-ton troopship, Highland Monarch, dropped anchor among the dismasted wrecks cluttering the harbour. With the rattle of her anchor chains echoing around the hills, the erstwhile luxury liner had begun immediately to disgorge soldiers carrying rifles and kitbags: fresh replacements to garrison the islands. Somewhat apart, a much smaller and quite distinct second party had also disembarked, some in uniform, others in civilian dress, and all under the command of a stocky, bespectacled naval officer who gave his orders with an Aberdonian lilt. During their brief stay on the islands, the attitude of these men has been noticeably different from that of their army shipmates, being remarkable for a kind of quiet but enthusiastic expectancy, very much at odds with the dull stoicism of the garrison troops. These are the men of Naval Parties 475 and 476, also known as ‘Operation Tabarin’, and they are bound for the Antarctic.

As the would-be Antarctic explorers made their way down the gangplank to report to Government House, Highland Monarch’s deck cranes had clattered into life, swinging back and forth to discharge her cargo into the waiting Fitzroy. Caught in the cranes’ giant nets, crates, sacks and boxes, containing everything from window glazing and stove parts to books and scientific equipment, were swung from the gloom of one cavernous hold, through the crisp, bright air of the South Atlantic, into two rather smaller holds. When the bulk of the cargo had been stowed, the Fitzroy moved off to tie-up alongside one of the coaling hulks used by the Falkland Islands Company and the transfer of the bulging black sacks began. To any observer familiar with the bunker capacity of such a ship, it must soon have become apparent that this was no ordinary fuelling stop. Long after the Fitzroy’s needs had been met, the coal continued to flow from the hulk, until the ship was covered in a film of choking black dust. Finally, lighters from the Highland Monarch ferried over the last few boxes and cases, which were then dumped unceremoniously on top of the coal piled high in the Fitzroy’s third hold. Soon she would be ready to sail.

The morning of 29 January had dawned cold and damp and the men gathered on the company’s jetty at 6.45 a.m. had stamped their feet and tucked their hands into their armpits to stave off the chill. Despite the fact that the harbour was all but enclosed, its surface looked distinctly choppy, with waves whipped up by the almost incessant winds that scoured the islands. The arrival of the company’s trim little launch had raised a murmur of satisfaction, but this turned to frustrated grumbling when the waiting men realised that one of their party was missing, apparently extracting the ‘last drop of sweetness from one of those leave-takings which are always so poignant’.1 At last, he appeared, scurrying round a corner and down the slope towards the jetty. Grinning rather sheepishly in response to the ribald witticisms of his companions, he had clambered into the launch, which then set off across the harbour under an overcast sky.

A few minutes have passed since the boarding party climbed the Fitzroy’s rust-streaked sides. Captain Keith Pitt has given the order ‘All ashore who are going ashore’ and those not sailing are now dashing about completing their last-minute jobs before returning to Stanley. Hatches are fastened, hands shaken, good wishes proffered – and they are gone. The smoke trailing lazily from the ship’s single funnel gives way to a steady, thick black plume, billowing in time with the increasingly determined throb of her engines. Pitt gives the order to ‘let go’: lines are cast off fore and aft, and the water at the stern, coloured brown by the peat of the surrounding hills, begins to froth and boil. The Fitzroy sits unusually low in the water and her decks as well as her holds are crowded precariously with canisters and boxes, stacks of timber and a bewildering assortment of items, of every conceivable size and shape. She appears to wallow slightly as she turns, but she steadies quickly as her yeoman exchanges signals with the shore and those on deck wave cheerily in answer to a valedictory hoot from the Highland Monarch. 

Followed by the Scoresby, the Fitzroy rounds Cape Pembroke and turns south and then west. For 50 miles or so, they hug the greenish grey shore before reaching Goose Green, where they embark fresh quarters of beef and sheep carcasses, which are then slung from the shrouds on both sides of the ship. Some hens and pigs, bound for South Georgia, are also brought aboard and give the deck the kind of barnyard appearance resented by officers and seamen alike. Finally, at 4 p.m., all is ready and the ships slip out of Choiseul Sound and into the open sea, where a few daring penguins flash in and out of the water beside them, like miniature torpedoes. As the Falkland Islands sink in their wake, the vessels begin to pitch and roll in the heavy sea and clouds of spray dash against the portholes and stream down their faces. With the light fading, the steward arrives to put up the blackout and soon the Scoresby and the Fitzroy are reduced to two slightly darker smudges upon the rolling blackness of the great Southern Ocean. 




Note


  1  Taylor, Two Years below the Horn, University of Manitoba, unpublished manuscript.
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The Shadow & the Substance

In 1949 Winston Churchill wrote that ‘The only thing that frightened me during the war was the U-boat peril’1 – and no one doubted that his anxiety had been justified. Between 1939 and 1945, German submarines sank nearly 3,000 Allied merchant ships and, at the height of the war, they came within an ace of cutting the supply of raw materials and food that kept Britain fighting. However, the eventual dominance of the U-boats tends to overshadow the fact that, during the very early stages of the conflict, disguised surface raiders, or Hilfskreuzers, were thought to constitute just as much of a menace to Britain’s supply routes as the fifty-seven U-boats operational in 1939. Between 1940 and 1942, the nine raiders sank a total of 142 Allied vessels and operated over a vast area of ocean stretching from the North Sea to the far South Atlantic. Like the most successful submariners, their commanders combined sound seamanship, great fighting skill, bravery and imagination, and they could expect to be highly decorated by a grateful Führer. Quite inadvertently, they also forged the vital first link in the chain of events that led to Operation Tabarin: the only Antarctic expedition to be launched by any of the combatant nations during the entire Second World War. 

From the very outset, the British Admiralty understood the nature of the threat posed by the Hilfskreuzers and, determined to tackle it head-on, in 1939 it despatched the long-range Odin-class submarine HMS Olympus to the sub-Antarctic Indian Ocean. Her mission: to search the Prince Edward Islands and Crozet Island for signs of enemy activity, in particular the establishment of supply depots and fuel dumps. The landing parties from Olympus discovered nothing untoward – but the British action would soon prove to be premature rather than misdirected. 

Just a few short months after Olympus returned to Ceylon at the end of her fruitless search, work began in the German shipbuilding port of Bremen to convert the 7,900-ton Hansa Line freighter Kandelfels into a warship. Armed with six 150mm guns stripped from the obsolete battleship Schlesien, one 75mm gun, two 37mm anti-aircraft guns and four 20mm anti-aircraft cannon, the ship also carried 300 mines and two Heinkel 114B aircraft, making her more than capable of overwhelming any unsuspecting Allied merchantman that she might encounter. Given that the auxiliary cruiser’s weapons were hidden in order to allay the suspicions of her victims – in much the same manner as the British Q-ships of both world wars – her commander, Fregattenkapitän Ernst-Felix Krüder, could also expect to close to devastating range before opening fire. Recommissioned on 2 June 1940, thirteen days later this wolf in sheep’s clothing slipped down the River Weser and out into the North Sea to seek her prey. Her intended field of operations was indicated by her new name, Pinguin, and over the next ten months her richest hunting ground would be the South Atlantic, her victims the whale-catchers and factory ships of the British and Norwegian Antarctic whaling fleets.

Krüder had good reason to anticipate success. By the end of the nineteenth century, 300 years of intense hunting had all but exterminated the whale populations of the Northern Hemisphere. But the destruction of the whale stocks in the north had done nothing to engender a more rational, conservationist approach in the industry. Instead, recognising that their usual territory was becoming exhausted, the whalers looked for new worlds to conquer. The existence of large numbers of whales in southern seas – particularly Humpback, Fin and Blue whales – had been known for well over a century, having been remarked upon by Captain Cook during his second exploratory voyage of 1772–75, but the logistical difficulty of hunting in these cold and turbulent waters had been a major deterrent to exploitation. With the catastrophic depletion of northern stocks, the waters around the Falklands and those stretching southwards past South Georgia, the South Shetlands and the South Orkneys to the coast of Antarctica itself became the most bountiful whaling fisheries on the face of the globe – and they could no longer be ignored if the industry were to meet the voracious demand for whale products, including whalebone stays and oil for lighting, lubrication and the manufacture of soap. 

The first serious attempt at whaling in Antarctic waters was made in 1873 by the German Antarctic Expedition under the command of the experienced Arctic whaler, Captain Eduard Dallmann. In his steamship, Grönland, Dallmann was able to harvest some fur and elephant seals, which were beginning to recover from uncontrolled hunting earlier in the century, but his vessel proved unable to match the speed of the larger whales. In the course of this expedition he discovered and named the Bismarck Strait, and the southern entrance to what was later named the Neumayer Channel by Adrien de Gerlache. Despite his geographic discoveries, however, Dallmann’s lack of kills discouraged other whalers from trying to exploit the region for another thirty years.

The next nation to send its whalers south was Norway and by the beginning of the twentieth century the introduction of small but swift steam-driven whale catchers, floating factories and explosive harpoons had made whaling in Antarctic waters an altogether more viable proposition. In December 1904, Captain Carl Anton Larsen built the first whaling station at Grytviken on the British-controlled island of South Georgia, and in no time at all the industry swung into full and bloody life. Within a year, the first floating factory sailed into Antarctic waters and, in less than a decade, a dozen such factories were operating in the region, acting as bases for far-ranging fleets of whale catchers. 

In addition to the continuing demand for many of the traditional whale products, the onset of the First World War generated an unprecedented demand for glycerine, a vital component in the manufacture of munitions, and during the whaling season of 1915–16 no fewer than 11,792 whales were slaughtered, generating huge fortunes for the industry’s leaders. Although the post-war recession witnessed a massive slump in the price of whale oil, the industry recovered rapidly in the thirties – a resurgence due in large part to increasingly efficient means of hunting and processing, including the invention of the ‘whale claw’ and the construction of purpose-built factory ships with their own slipways, which replaced the converted freighters and passenger ships previously used. Together, these innovations enabled the whalers to process entire carcasses while still at sea and catches grew ever more colossal. In the season of 1937–38, the industry attained its bloody zenith with some 46,000 whales slaughtered, producing around 3.3 million barrels of oil. It was upon the whale catchers and factory ships engaged in this highly profitable industry that Captain Krüder now focused his attention, turning the hunters into the hunted. 

The Pinguin’s first engagement in sub-Antarctic waters took place on the night of 13 January 1941, when her prize crews boarded and captured six Norwegian vessels at approximately 57°45’S, 02°30’W. Having monitored the radio transmissions between the incautious whalers, Krüder knew their precise location and approached the factory ships Solglimt and Ole Wegger from the rear to avoid being spotted by the roving whale catchers, which normally worked ahead of their mother ships. Usually, raiders like Pinguin relied upon their innocuous appearance and the careful concealment of their guns to enable them to approach their prey. On this occasion a swirling snowstorm rendered her all but invisible, and Krüder closed to within point-blank range before he swept the decks of the Norwegian vessels with his powerful searchlights, at the same time announcing through his loudhailer that any attempt to use their radio transmitters would invite a devastating fusillade. Caught completely by surprise, the Norwegian skippers had no option but to surrender and within 25 minutes the German prize crews signalled that they had both Solglimt and Ole Wegger in their hands. Within hours, Pinguin added another Norwegian factory ship, Pelagos, and seven whale catchers to her tally. The only significant prize to escape was the factory ship Thorshammer – but Krüder knew from his radio intercepts that Thorshammer had already transferred most of her processed whale oil and some of her bunker fuel to Pelagos and Ole Wegger, so he decided against pursuit. Between them, Solglimt, Pelagos and Ole Wegger carried a total of 20,230 tons of whale oil, making Krüder’s haul the most valuable prize captured by German raiders during the war. 

News of the disaster, which first reached the British authorities via a whale catcher despatched to Grytviken by Captain Einor Torp of Thorshammer, raised a storm of criticism about the administration of the whaling industry. In particular, it soon came to light that the sailing of the Norwegian fleet at the start of the season had not even been kept secret, its departure being announced – much to the dismay of the whaling managers themselves – during a broadcast in Norwegian from an American radio station. To further compound this criminal lack of caution, the Norwegian whaling expeditions were both unarmed and unescorted by warships. As far as the British Admiralty was concerned, it argued that the collapse of France left Britain standing alone and in need of every gun she possessed in home waters to counteract the threat of invasion. If Norway preferred to commit her defenceless ships to whaling rather than submit them to the risks of freight carrying in the North Atlantic, where they would at least have the protection of British escorts, the responsibility was hers alone. In fact, after Pinguin’s raid, the Norwegians would not feel confident enough to despatch another whaling expedition to the Antarctic until January 1944, the month when the vessels of Operation Tabarin headed south from Stanley. 

Whatever the Admiralty’s opinions might be regarding the protection of the Norwegians, the Naval Officer in Charge in the Falklands could not afford to take any risks with the British whalers. A week after the attack, the 22,500-ton armed merchant cruiser Queen of Bermuda sailed from Stanley: her orders, in the words of one crew member, ‘to go down south and find out what was what’.2 As he began patrolling the area between South Georgia, the South Shetland Islands and the Weddell Sea, Captain Geoffrey Hawkins could be confident that his vessel’s six 150mm, one 75mm, two 37mm, four 20mm guns and four 533mm torpedo tubes should make her more than a match for any raider. He immediately established contact with the British-chartered factory ships Southern Empress, Svend Foyn II and Lancing – which were instructed to add an extra month to their 1940–41 whaling season to compensate for the loss of the captured cargo – and also extended his protection to the lonely Thorshammer.

On 1 March, Hawkins received orders to extend his operations still further and on the 5th Queen of Bermuda visited Deception Island in the South Shetlands to establish whether the abandoned Norwegian whaling station showed any signs of having been used as a base by German raiders. The shore party found the volcanic island and the derelict whaling factory desolate. To further reduce the military potential of the site, they set fire to a large heap of coal, ruptured the oil storage tanks, severed the supply and discharge pipes serving the tanks, and partly dismantled the abandoned whaling factory buildings. Her demolition work completed, Queen of Bermuda returned to protection duties for a further month before accompanying Thorshammer, Southern Express and Svend Foyn II to Freetown at the beginning of April.

Despite the absence of any signs of German activity on the Prince Edward Islands and Crozet Island in 1939, or on Deception Island in 1941, the Admiralty was right to think that the Germans were using island bases to support their raiders. The Kriegsmarine had actually located its supply base in an obscure fjord in Kerguelen Island in the southern Indian Ocean, and between 1940 and 1941 it replenished the bunkers and galleys of both Pinguin and the most successful German raider of the entire war, Atlantis, which had operated off the coast of Sumatra before proceeding into the Southern Ocean. Later in 1941, intelligence reports prompted HMAS Australia to mine four suspected anchorages in order to restrict German activity in the region. Consequently, the Kriegsmarine abandoned its plans to set up a permanently manned weather station on Kerguelen Island, where, even to this day, some of the mines laid by Australia present a hazard to shipping.

As for Pinguin, her career came to an abrupt end on 8 May 1941 when the County-class heavy cruiser HMS Cornwall engaged her near the Seychelles. Despite a gallant defence, Pinguin proved no match for a British warship nearly twice her size. At about 5.45 p.m., after a 27-minute engagement, a four-gun salvo from Cornwall’s 8in forward turrets tore the German ship apart, one of the few survivors remembering that ‘the after part of the Pinguin was suddenly transformed into a fire-spitting volcano.’3 An 8in shell had landed among the 130 mines that Krüder had intended to lay in the approaches to Karachi and their simultaneous detonation blew the ship to smithereens. The wreck took just five seconds to sink and she took with her Krüder and 340 members of his crew. Tragically, just moments before the British shells struck, Krüder had ordered the release of 238 prisoners taken from his prizes and all but twenty-four were lost. Of the German crew, only sixty-one survived: four officers and fifty-seven other ranks. During her 357 days at sea, Pinguin had sailed some 59,000 miles, more than twice the circumference of the Earth, and she had captured or sunk thirty-two ships, totalling some 154,710 tons. 

Pinguin’s cruise had more than justified British anxieties regarding enemy activity in the waters of the far south. These anxieties would be heightened still further by the Japanese attacks on Pearl Harbor, the Philippines, Burma and Malaya between December 1941 and January 1942. In particular, the newly appointed Chief of the Imperial General Staff, General Sir Alan Brooke, feared that a Japanese invasion of the Falkland Islands would have disastrous consequences for Allied shipping, as any naval force based on the islands would be able to harry the convoys passing round Cape Horn or seeking to enter the mouth of the River Plate. As one naval officer connected with Operation Tabarin would later remark: ‘It is not coincidence that in the first three months of both world wars the South Atlantic squadron fought decisive battles in this very area.’4

With hindsight, the idea of a Japanese amphibious assault on the Falklands might seem incredible – but then, on the evening of 6 December 1941, the thought of the Japanese bombing the US Pacific Fleet in Pearl Harbor seemed no less fantastic. With the Falkland Islands defended by a force of just 330 indigenous volunteers with virtually no weapons, consideration of how to bolster their defences became a matter of urgency. In a ‘Most Secret’ cipher dated 23 March 1942, the Admiralty advised British officials in Washington that ‘We view with concern the practically defenceless state of the Falkland Islands.’5 Given that the impact upon American shipping would be at least as severe as that upon British convoys supplying the Middle East and India, the officials were then asked to:



… discuss question of these Islands with US Chiefs of Staff. If they consider the islands should be adequately defended, you should say that we are unable to find or transfer the forces at present but would welcome anything they can do in this respect although we are reluctant to ask US to accept additional burden of defence of British territory.6



Not surprisingly, despite the strategic value of the islands, the American response to this plea for them to take over responsibility for the defence of a British overseas territory was lukewarm at best. Even at this stage in the war, America was making it clear that it had no interest in maintaining what the influential American commentator Walter Lipmann called the ‘archaic privilege’ of empire.7 

Having previously been advised that it would be impracticable to transfer Commonwealth troops from other theatres in order to defend the Falklands, Churchill had endorsed the approach to the United States. When this was rebuffed, he remained convinced that something must still be done – no matter what the logistical difficulties. On 1 April, he wrote to General ‘Pug’ Ismay and the Chiefs of Staff Committee:



It would be a very serious thing to lose the Falkland Islands to the Japanese and no comfort to say that it would hurt the United States more than ourselves … The islands are a British Possession and responsibility. Hitherto I was told there was no shipping and that it would be much easier for the United States to reinforce them than for us. It is clear this is not so.

In these circumstances a British Battalion should certainly be found, but let me know first how this could be done and what dislocation it involves.

The Falkland Islands are very well known, and their loss would be a shock to the whole Empire. They would certainly have to be retaken. The object of the reinforcement would be to make it necessary for the Japanese to extend their attacking force to a tangible size. This might well act as a deterrent.8



From the very beginning of the war, Britain had feared the repercussions of enemy activity in high latitudes. By the spring of 1942 the depredations of the German raiders and the potential for a Japanese invasion of the Falklands had served to turn the eyes not only of the Admiralty but also of the Prime Minister himself to the far southern reaches of the globe. Not surprisingly, Churchill’s attention would swiftly be diverted to other theatres, most notably in Russia and North Africa, but in some departments at least the defence of the Falkland Islands and their dependencies would retain its significance. In the minds of the individuals concerned, however, the real nature of the threat to British interests in the region was very different from that which had exercised Churchill, Brooke and the Admiralty. The aggressor, they feared, was not Germany or Japan, but neutral Argentina.




***




Although she could trace her active engagement in the region back to the ‘Heroic Age’ of Antarctic exploration (c. 1895–1917), Argentina had played only a very limited part in the flurry of activity that followed the influential Sixth International Geographical Congress of 1895. She had launched only two brief Antarctic missions: the first to aid the missing Swedish explorer, Otto Nordenskjöld, in 1903; and the second to ascertain the whereabouts of the Frenchman, Jean-Baptiste Charcot, in 1904 – but she had undertaken no exploratory activity on her own account. Ironically, therefore, her territorial claims were based in large part not upon discovery but upon decisions taken in isolation by a British explorer and a British diplomat at the very beginning of the twentieth century. 

The explorer was Dr William Speirs Bruce, leader of the Scottish National Antarctic Expedition. In November 1903 Bruce had established a meteorological station on Laurie Island in the South Orkneys. Keen to ensure that his station would be permanently manned, but lacking any government funding, on landing at Buenos Aires he suggested to the resident British Minister, William Haggard, that he should transfer the station to the Argentine government. Although Bruce himself seemed ‘not to have made up his mind whether they [the South Orkneys] were likely to be of any use whatever to Great Britain or no’,9 Haggard saw no reason to block the proposal and he passed it on to the Argentine authorities on 29 December. Within days the Argentines accepted the offer, publishing a Presidential Decree to that effect on 2 January 1904. The British Foreign Secretary, Lord Lansdowne, then gave official sanction to Haggard’s actions on 26 April. The Argentine government stopped short of formally annexing the South Orkneys – a policy strongly advocated by elements of the local press – and the Presidential Decree referred only to taking over ‘the installation offered by Mr William S. Bruce’,10 but its officials did nominate one member of the newly appointed meteorological party, Hugo Acuña, as postmaster. This appointment clearly implied the assumption of territorial rights. On 22 February, with the members of Bruce’s expedition in attendance, the British flag was lowered on Laurie Island and the Argentine raised in its stead, and when Bruce’s Scotia sailed for the Weddell Sea she carried with her mail bearing the Argentine postmark ‘Orcades del Sud, Distrito Rio Gallegos’.11

The actions of Bruce and Haggard did not run counter to well-established British policy towards the Antarctic. Although Britain could legitimately claim rights to the South Sandwich Islands, the South Orkneys, the South Shetlands and the Graham Land Peninsula through their discovery by British sailors at the end of the eighteenth century and in the first half of the nineteenth, for decades she had exhibited very little interest in these barren and seemingly unprofitable lumps of rock. Each of the newly discovered islands had been claimed for the Crown by their discoverers, including James Cook, William Smith, Edward Bransfield, John Biscoe, James Clark Ross and George Powell, but no further action was taken. This casual attitude began to change only when Captain Carl Larsen and his fellow whalers began to harvest the immense riches of the southern seas. Although Larsen initially set up Compañía Argentina de Pesca with the backing of an Argentine bank, the canny Norwegian quickly demonstrated that he would deal with whichever country seemed best able to offer security to his enterprise, and by the beginning of 1906 he had formally applied for a lease of land on South Georgia from the governor of the Falkland Islands, William Allardyce. With the potential for vast whaling revenues rapidly becoming evident, on 21 July 1908 Great Britain issued Letters Patent in which she asserted that all lands ‘situated in the South Atlantic Ocean to the south of the 50th Parallel of South latitude, and lying between the 20th and 80th degrees of West longitude, are part of our Dominions.’12 These territories included the South Orkneys, the South Shetlands, the South Sandwich Islands, South Georgia and the whole of Graham Land. 
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The Argentine government had protested British control of the Falkland Islands since 1834, but it passed no comment on the Letters Patent relating to the Falkland Islands Dependencies. Despite this apparent oversight, and possibly as a result of a substantial increase in British activity relating to the administration of the whaling industry, over the ensuing decades the attitude of successive Argentine administrations hardened. This culminated in a claim made in 1927 to the International Bureau of the Universal Postal Union that Argentina’s overseas territories included the South Orkneys – where she had maintained year-round occupancy since 1904 – and the South Shetlands, as well as the Falkland Islands themselves. The British government found it extraordinarily difficult to identify a clear and coherent policy to adopt in response to such assertions: on the one hand, the existence of a large British population in Argentina and significant levels of British investment in the country made it reluctant to antagonise unnecessarily. On the other, it needed to maintain its claim to territories which were now far from being profitless; more broadly, any failure to defend its rights could have had profound implications for other parts of the Empire. The policy ultimately adopted was to simply ignore the issue and maintain cordial relations. In the words of the best recent commentary, ‘the British response to Argentina’s incursions in the island dependencies remained one of letting “sleeping dogs lie”.’13 

With the onset of war, matters went a stage further and bluster at last gave way to action. In 1938, Norway invited both Argentina and Chile to send their representatives to an international polar congress planned for 1940 in Bergen. Although war prevented the congress from taking place, Argentina had started to prepare by setting up a comisión provisional tasked with articulating the extent and basis of her Antarctic claims. Not surprisingly, the strongest prop underpinning her argument was Argentina’s position as ‘the only country in the world which maintains a permanent observatory in the Antarctic regions’.14 Thus, Dr Bruce’s plan to ensure the continuance of his scientific observations in the absence of government funding eventually became the single most powerful element of Argentina’s claim to sovereignty over Antarctic territory. ‘Had he lived longer,’ writes Bruce’s biographer, ‘Bruce would have been surprised and perhaps amused to see the geo-political consequences of his actions, made in good faith and all in the name of science.’15 

As a direct result of the work of the Argentine commission – which became the permanent Comisión Nacional del Antárctico on 30 May 1940 – and no doubt influenced by the course of the war, which unmistakably was going Germany’s way, the Argentine government at last decided to stake its claim with something more tangible than words. Accordingly, in January 1942, the naval transport ship, Primero de Mayo, sailed from Buenos Aires under the command of Capitán de Fragata Alberto J. Oddera. After landing on Deception Island on 8 February, Oddera sailed down the Gerlache Strait and visited the Melchior Islands in the Palmer Archipelago and Winter Island. He surveyed some of the islands and ordered the erection of a navigation beacon on shore. Ice conditions made it impossible to visit Marguerite Bay as planned and so Primero de Mayo turned north and reached Buenos Aires towards the end of February. At each of the landings, the Argentine sailors raised their national flag and, in conspicuous places, left notes announcing that Argentina had taken possession of all land south of 60°S and lying between longitudes 25°W and 68°34’W. The following year, Primero de Mayo returned under Capitán de Fragata Silvano Harriague. On this occasion, the Argentines completed a survey of Melchior Harbour before sailing to Port Lockroy and to Marguerite Bay. They paid another visit to the abandoned facilities of the Hektor Whaling Company on Deception Island and Primero de Mayo then returned home. 

Learning of the provocative first voyage of Primero de Mayo, British officials agonised, in typical fashion, over how they should respond. It very soon became clear, however, that if British claims in the region were to be maintained, ‘sitting on the fence’ was no longer an option. Perhaps the most influential voice in the debate was that of W. Beckett, a legal adviser to the Foreign Office who opined that, when asserting territorial claims and, in particular, when disputing the claims of other nations, ‘the greatest weight is attached to actual physical occupation and use … If we want to make sure of our title to these islands we must establish something permanently there ourselves, difficult and tiresome as it may be.’16 Prior to Beckett’s memorandum, most officials had favoured a formal protest to the Argentine government; given the supine attitude of previous administrations – engendered in large part by the Foreign Office’s reluctance to weaken Britain’s cultural and economic relationship with Argentina – it is not surprising that none had supported the idea of physical intervention. Fully appreciating that a robust stance on the issue of the dependencies would send a very clear signal regarding Britain’s intention to defend its occupation of the far more important Falkland Islands, their forward-looking governor, Sir Allan Cardinall, welcomed Beckett’s advice and suggested that members of his staff should visit the dependencies, courtesy of the Royal Navy. Even more important, the Foreign Secretary, Sir Anthony Eden, also dismissed the idea of relying solely upon protests, noting that ‘if we want to keep them [the dependencies] we are not likely to do so by these means’.17 

Following Eden’s intervention, an interdepartmental meeting conceded that, if Britain’s claims in the region were to be maintained, it might now be necessary to establish ‘permanent, or semi-permanent, settlements in both the South Orkneys and the South Shetlands’.18 Given that such action could prompt further, and more aggressive, action from Argentina, consideration must be given to whether the potential gains justified the risks involved. The Foreign Office very much doubted it, being particularly concerned that a catastrophic decline in Anglo-Argentine relations could jeopardise the substantial imports of beef from South America. For its part, at the beginning of the century, and in peacetime, the Admiralty had confirmed that, so far as the South Orkneys were concerned, it did not ‘attach any importance to the possession of these islands from a Naval point of view’.19 Having fought the disastrous Battle of Coronel and the victorious Battle of the Falkland Islands during the First World War, and the equally successful Battle of the River Plate in 1939, by the early 1940s the Admiralty was no longer under any illusions regarding the strategic importance of the South Atlantic island groups. This awareness had been further reinforced by the depredations of Pinguin and other commerce raiders during 1941. However, while Britain’s military interests might still be compromised if a pro-Axis state gained undisputed control of the southern side of Drake Passage, by early 1943 the immediate military threat was considered to be largely extinct. The majority of commerce raiders had been destroyed and, the suspected activity on Kerguelen Island apart, visiting British warships had found no evidence that they had ever used the sub-Antarctic islands for refuelling or repair. This being the case, some – though not all – Admiralty officials considered that there were ‘better employments for HM ships in wartime than to visit a distant dependency in order to counter a fictitious claim to that territory by a neutral South American Republic’.20

The Colonial Office argued strongly to the contrary. Critically, its officials also realised that, with their wreckage safely mouldering on the ocean floor, Pinguin and her sisters could actually be used to serve British interests. In particular, given her lukewarm attitude towards a post-war British Empire, one official suggested that the United States could be told that any British personnel in the area:



… were there as observers to report the presence of enemy raiders, and mention that at least one had been seen in these waters in recent months … At the same time, it will provide a useful shield against any Argentine annoyance that may be provoked by our acts. They may get sympathy if they protest against our ‘imperialistic designs on their territory’, but hardly at British attempts to further ‘hemispheric defence’!21



Two months later, as Primero de Mayo prosecuted her second incursion, exactly the same strategy was discussed at a meeting of the War Cabinet chaired by the Deputy Prime Minister, Clement Attlee:



Whilst we hold a title to the Islands [South Orkneys and South Shetlands] by discovery, we have never been in effective occupation and Argentine Government include Islands in their general Antarctic claims and have recently taken various steps to strengthen their claim. An Argentine naval transport, with Chilean naval officers on board, is at present en route to the Islands.

Both Admiralty and Colonial Office attach importance to maintenance of our title to the Islands and prevention of further Argentine encroachments. Foreign Office considers present moment propitious for taking action in view of Argentina’s political isolation. It is felt that in default of action now by us situation may arise in which it would be impossible to dislodge Argentina except by force … [This action] will be described, in reply to any enquiries, as a search for traces of enemy raiders. It is further proposed that permanent occupation should be established next year on all Islands except probably Laurie Island.22



The raiders thus became an excuse for an operation actually designed to extract a thorn that had been irritating British flesh since long before the war. Had he lived, the irony would surely not have been lost on Ernst-Felix Krüder.

 The action decided upon by the War Cabinet on 28 January was the immediate despatch of the armed merchant cruiser HMS Carnarvon Castle to Deception Island. The US Navy was informed of the ‘impending tour as a matter of naval routine’23 but, lacking confidence in the impenetrability of its own ruse, the British government also chose quite deliberately not to tell the State Department of Carnarvon Castle’s cruise. Originally a passenger liner of the Union Castle Line, the 20,000-ton Carnarvon Castle had been converted to an armed merchant cruiser in Simonstown, South Africa, in September 1939. She had then spent much of her time in the South Atlantic where, on 5 December 1940, she had engaged the 9,200-ton German commerce raider Thor 700 miles east of Montevideo. Badly damaged in the encounter, and with thirty-four casualties on board, Carnarvon Castle had disengaged and limped to Montevideo, where repairs were effected using steel plate stripped from the scuttled Graf Spee. Now under the command of Captain Edward Wollaston Kitson, Carnarvon Castle was ordered to proceed to Deception Island where her officers discovered the copper cylinder left by Primero de Mayo. In line with British government policy, the landing party obliterated all marks of foreign sovereignty; they hoisted the Union flag and erected four ‘British Crown Land’ signs at conspicuous points. Carnarvon Castle then sailed to Signy Island in the South Orkneys, where the same protocols were followed, before finally making a cordial visit to the Argentine meteorological station on Laurie Island. There, Kitson and his officers again promulgated the fiction of a search for German raiders, but they fooled no one and a month later Primero de Mayo returned to Deception Island to destroy the British marks and replace them with those of Argentina.

Clearly this game of tit-for-tat could be played for years without either side gaining the upper hand. As Beckett had articulated in September 1942, possession being nine tenths of the law, the only truly decisive action would be to physically occupy at least some of the dependencies. This requirement was again acknowledged at another interdepartmental meeting on 27 May 1943, and planning for the occupation of the Falkland Islands Dependencies began at last. Although, in the words of one participant, the ‘original idea was to send just a party of soldiers … just to sit somewhere in the Antarctic to occupy the place – and that was that’,24 more ambitious objectives soon began to be debated. An Expedition Committee was formed comprising members from the Colonial Office, the Ministry of War Transport, the Foreign Office, the Treasury, the Crown Agents, the Discovery Committee and the Admiralty, but the real motive power for the planned expedition came from a trio of highly experienced polar veterans: James Wordie, Neil Mackintosh and Brian Roberts.

Best known for his part in Sir Ernest Shackleton’s Imperial Trans-Antarctic Expedition of 1914–17, Wordie’s harrowing experiences during the drift of the Endurance and on Elephant Island had done nothing to curb his enthusiasm for all things polar. Between 1919 and 1937 he had led no fewer than seven small-scale expeditions to the Arctic and, with fellow Heroic Age veterans Frank Debenham and Raymond Priestley, he had founded the hugely influential Scott Polar Research Institute in Cambridge. Despite being a dour Glaswegian with a reputation for ‘great reserve and few words’,25 Wordie had also assumed the role of mentor to a whole generation of aspiring Arctic and Antarctic explorers including, most notably, Gino Watkins, John Rymill and Vivian Fuchs. For his part, as zoologist on the National Oceanographic Expedition of 1925–27, Mackintosh had spent two years studying the dismembered remains of more than 1,600 whales on the bloody ‘plans’ of the Grytviken and Saldanha Bay whaling stations, becoming in the process one of the great authorities on the life of the Southern Ocean in general and the reproductive cycle of the whale in particular. From 1936 he had been Director of the Discovery Investigations, in overall control of the Antarctic research vessels, Discovery II and William Scoresby. The third member of the triumvirate, Roberts, had served as ornithologist on Rymill’s British Graham Land Expedition (BGLE) of 1934–37. From the beginning of the war, he had been involved in research on cold-climate clothing and equipment for the Intelligence Department of the Admiralty and, working with Wordie, he had helped to produce around thirty separate volumes of the so-called ‘Blue Books’ on cold-climate topics, including geographical handbooks on Iceland, Spitsbergen and Greenland. Although he would not be co-opted onto the Expedition Committee until February 1944, Roberts worked with Wordie on Operation Tabarin from its inception; indeed, he was eventually sacked from his work on the Blue Books because of his willingness to be so diverted without the prior agreement of his boss, H.C. Darby. According to Vivian Fuchs, who rose to become Director of the Falkland Islands Dependencies Survey (FIDS) in 1959 and knew each of them personally, together ‘these three were to preside like benign paladins over the general planning and organisation.’26

All three shared a keen interest in bolstering British influence in a region which, to their minds, had been sadly neglected for most of the period since the end of the Heroic Age. They were also very quick to appreciate ‘that bases established for political reasons could also provide platforms for scientific work’27 and, from the very outset, they did everything possible to ensure that Operation Tabarin would evolve into a semi-permanent arrangement, incorporating systematic exploration. As early as August 1943, Roberts was discussing the need for Nansen sledges and surveying equipment – items that would hardly be needed if the expedition were to remain a static operation designed solely to reaffirm territorial rights. Put simply, the opportunity to undertake a proper study of the Antarctic Peninsula was just too good to miss. Under the terms of the initial plan, two bases would be established: the first on Deception Island, the second in the vicinity of Hope Bay on the northern tip of the mainland. Naturally, the men on the mainland would enjoy the wider field of operations and their objectives included a journey down the east coast of Graham Land, thereby extending the survey work completed by the BGLE. Both bases would be equipped to send meteorological reports to Stanley and a detailed scientific programme including geology, glaciology, botany, zoology and studies of tidal movements and sea ice was devised by Mackintosh. Depending on the course of the war – and upon the availability of funding – additional bases might be established and the scientific programme expanded still further at a later date.

Initially, the mission as a whole was called ‘Operation Bransfield’, but, since Edward Bransfield was credited with being the first man ever to set eyes on the Antarctic mainland, this name blatantly failed to comply with the instruction that a mission’s code name should bear absolutely no relation to its objective. It also seemed to refute Churchill’s assertion that ‘Intelligent thought will readily supply an unlimited number of well-sounding names that do not suggest the character of the operation.’28 As an alternative, Roberts and John Mossop of the Admiralty then suggested ‘Operation Tabarin’ – and the name stuck. According to Roberts, this name was derived from the ‘Bal Tabarin’, a nightclub in Paris, ‘because we had had to do a lot of night work and the organisation was always so chaotic just as the club and hence the origin of its name.’29 However, Roberts may also have been influenced, perhaps subconsciously, by an earlier use of the name Tabarin in a polar context. In 1935, Sandy Glen had led the Oxford University Expedition to North East Land in the Spitsbergen Archipelago. In his official account of the expedition, published in 1937, Glen described his winter quarters in memorable terms:



The ceiling was hung with clothes of every kind and description, windproofs, silk pyjamas, skiing stockings, a sheepskin coat and red-checked shirts, and even a pair of scarlet beach-trousers. They added an impression of gaiety which was charmingly Bohemian; with the gramophone and an imaginary addition of a girl, it might have been a Parisian tabarin.30



Although Glen was part of the Oxford polar circle, and Roberts belonged to that of Cambridge, the two groups were far from being mutually exclusive and both Roberts and Wordie had been involved in the Oxford University Exploration Society. Roberts had almost certainly read Glen’s book, and its light-hearted picture of living conditions in an expedition hut obviously struck a chord.31 Given that the real objectives of Operation Tabarin were hidden behind a ‘search for traces of enemy raiders’, it is also interesting to note that the root of the word tabarin is tabard, meaning ‘little cloak’. This suggests that the name may even have been a rather esoteric hint that the mission’s avowed aims ‘cloaked’ an ulterior motive. Though rather more opaque in meaning than ‘Bransfield’, ‘Tabarin’ still broke the rules regulating the selection of code names – but Roberts would not be the last wartime planner to enjoy a somewhat indiscreet in-joke when selecting the name for his pet project. 

As well as deciding upon the scope and the name of the expedition, the Expedition Committee also had to identify a suitable leader. The man eventually chosen was Lieutenant James William Slessor Marr, RNVR. By any standards, Marr’s career had been extraordinary – and the vast majority of it had been spent in the field. Born in the village of Cushnie in Aberdeenshire on 9 December 1902, he had studied classics and zoology at the University of Aberdeen and it was while a student that he had been selected from thousands of volunteer Boy Scouts to accompany Shackleton’s Quest Expedition of 1921–22. After Shackleton’s death on 5 January 1922, the expedition failed to reach its most southerly objectives in the Weddell Sea, but it still completed varied work on and around South Georgia, Elephant Island, Gough Island, Tristan da Cunha and St Paul’s Rocks. Marr returned from this formative experience to complete his MA in classics and his BSc in zoology, but his studies were interrupted by a series of public appearances designed to repay the debts of the expedition. These involved standing in his Scout uniform outside cinemas where the Quest film was being shown and, after each performance, making speeches in order to charm the pounds, shillings and pence from his audiences’ pockets. Although he loathed this begging and found it difficult to live down the ‘Scout Marr’ label and the embarrassing photographs of a full-grown man in shorts, Baden-Powell hat, neckerchief and woggle, these activities did at least introduce him to the fundraising issues inseparable from polar exploration. 

During the summer of 1925, Marr took part in the British Arctic Expedition organised and led by Grettir Algarsson and Frank Worsley of Endurance fame. Originally, they planned to fly to the North Pole in an airship but when this proved too costly, with unassailable sangfroid they adjusted their programme and decided instead to sail north in an ancient brigantine named Island. Once again, in the interests of fundraising, Marr donned his Scout uniform and found himself in the unenviable position of door-knocking through the streets of Liverpool. ‘Perfectly inoffensive parsons and genial bishops were led astray,’ Worsley recalled with a chuckle, ‘… At our approach philanthropists, prosperous merchants, brewers, bakers, publicans, and even taxi-drivers fled in all directions.’32 By the time Island sailed, Marr was 22 years old, heavily built, dark and ‘with a dour Scots face – like a prize fighter’.33 He was also physically strong and an accomplished sailor; indeed, Worsley described him as ‘our champion at stowing any sail, square or fore and aft, in the ship’,34 and Worsley was no mean judge of a man’s sailing abilities. Unsurprisingly, the expedition achieved little except some minor corrections to the charts of the area between Nordaustlandet and Kvitoya. Of his zoological investigations, Marr wrote that they were ‘unfortunately, not of a very serious nature. I was utterly new to the game, lack of experience and the conditions under which we worked permitted only of dabbling and, owing to shortage of funds, we had been able to secure only a partial scientific equipment.’35 Nonetheless, the expedition added to his growing stock of experience; it enabled him to further hone his skills in handling those essential tools of the marine zoologist, the tow-net and dredge, and it gave him the opportunity to describe the plants of West Spitzbergen, Northeast Land and Franz Joseph Land. 

In 1927, after a year as Carnegie Scholar at the marine laboratory in Aberdeen, during which he worked up his findings for publication, Marr joined the staff of the Discovery Investigations under Dr Stanley Kemp. The forerunner of the Discovery Investigations had been formed in 1917 with the specific purpose of advising the Secretary of State for the Colonies on the means by which the economic viability of the Falkland Islands might be sustained, with particular regard to the preservation of the whaling industry. The wholesale slaughter of the whale population had made it abundantly clear to a British government keen to assert its rights in a non-confrontational fashion that controls on whaling must be imposed if the whale, and by implication the revenue-generating whaling industry, were not to be driven to extinction. New laws must be introduced, but to maximise their effectiveness they should be based upon an exact understanding of the whale’s lifecycle: of its patterns of migration, feeding and breeding. Such knowledge could only be gained by a properly funded oceanographic research expedition manned by scientists and provided with the latest equipment. These considerations gave rise to the National Oceanographic Expedition of 1925–27, which formed the first part of the long running Discovery Investigations, so named because the ship employed for the first two seasons was Scott’s veteran expedition ship, Discovery. 
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